IN THE SUPREME COURT of the STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. **75-375**

TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES,

Appellant,

vs 🛛

ALAN PAGE,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS

INITIAL BRIEF (ON THE MERITS) OF APPELLANT, TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES

CARMAN, BEAUCHAMP & SANG, P.A. 600 West Hillsboro Boulevard Suite 210 Deerfield Beach, Florida 33441 (305) 426-4401 -and-RHEA P. GROSSMAN, P.A. 2710 Douglas Road Miami, Florida 33133-2728 (305) 448-6692

Counsel for APPELLANT.

TABLES OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>

TABLE OF CITATIONS	i
INTRODUCTION	1
STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION	2
POINT ON APPEAL	2
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS	
A. Course of Proceedings	2
B. Facts	3
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	4

INTRODUCTION

This is an appeal to review a **per** <u>curiam</u> opinion (App.1-3) of the Fourth District Court of Appeals which reversed a trial court's Order granting this Appellant a Judgment on the Pleadings (App.4).

Appellant, TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES, was one of three defendants in the trial court and the Appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeals. The Appellant will be referred to as "TOWN" throughout this brief. Similarly, Appellee, ALAN PAGE, was the plaintiff in the trial court, the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeals and will be referred to as "PAGE" in this brief. Any reference to the co-defendants, not parties to this appeal, will be by proper name for clarity.

The symbol "App." will reference the appendix attached to Appellant's brief. $^{1}/$

There is no record-on-appeal as Appellee, PAGE, filed this appeal pursuant to Rule 9.130(a)(3)(c)(1), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. Nevertheless, as indicated in the Answer Brief filed by TOWN in the Fourth District Court of Appeals, the Order which was the subject of the initial appeal should have been reviewed as a Final Order pursuant to Rule 9.110, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. The Amended Complaint (App, 5-12) seeks damages, in two counts, pursuant to federal civil rights laws. Appellee, TOWN, was named solely in Count I. The Order on the a final Motion for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings is adjudication of all claims against TOWN. Compare, Mendez v. West Flagler Family Association, 303 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1974); S.L.T. Warehouse Co. v. Webb, 304 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1974). The Fourth District Court of Appeal indicated in its per curiam opinion that The Fourth the cause was decided from an appeal of a non-final order (App.1-3). Appellant still maintains that the Order was final as to TOWN. Nonetheless, a formal record is not required as the only pertinent pleadings, to wit: the Amended Complaint, Answer and Order are included in the Appendix attached to the Initial Brief of Appellant at page 14, infra,

STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction to review the <u>per</u> curiam decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeals (App.1-3) pursuant to Rules 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and 9.120, Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure and Article V, Section 3(B)(4), Florida Constitution.

POINT ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER A MUNICIPALITY IS ENTITLED TO THE PROTECTIONS OF COMMON LAW IMMUNITY WHEN SUED IN A FLORIDA STATE COURT FOR FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATIONS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. <u>Course of Proceedings</u>:

On August 3, 1987, **PAGE** filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County, Florida (App.5-12). TOWN was one of three named defendants.

On May 24, 1989, the trial court entered a Partial Judgment on the Pleadings (App.12), in favor of **TOWN** on the authority of <u>Hill V, Dept. of Corrections</u>, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987) and <u>Howlett</u> <u>V. Rose</u>, 537 So.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989). **PAGE** filed an appeal

from a non-final order ²/ and on September 6, 1989, the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, filed its <u>per curiam</u> opinion reversing and remanding the matter to the trial court for further proceedings against TOWN (App.1-3). Timely motions for rehearing, rehearing <u>en banc</u>, and Supreme Court Certification were filed and denied on December 14, 1989. The mandate from the Fourth District Court of Appeals issued on January 5, 1990.

Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction was filed by TOWN on January 8, 1990. Jurisdictional briefs were submitted. On May 11, 1990, this Court entered its Order accepting jurisdiction.

B. The Facts:

PAGE, a probationary law enforcement officer with TOWN, filed suit in Palm Beach County against TOWN for civil rights violations pursuant to Title 42 U.S.C. Section **1983**. The Amended Complaint alleged that TOWN wrongfully terminated PAGE for a publication which appeared in a local newspaper, thereby depriving PAGE of his rights pursuant to the First, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution (App.5-12). TOWN filed its Answer to these allegations and affirmatively raised the defense that it was protected from this lawsuit by the doctrine of common law sovereign immunity (App.13-15).

The trial court concurred in TOWN'S assertion that it was afforded common law sovereign immunity protections and that Section

²/ See footnote 1, page 1, <u>supra</u>.

768.28, Florida Statutes did not act as a waiver of that immunity in a federal civil rights action filed in a state court. The trial court's decision was reduced to an Order which granted TOWN'S Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (App.4).

In reversing the Order of the trial court, the Fourth District Court of Appeals specifically determined that (1) municipalities are not afforded the protections of common law immunity; and (2) the state court has subject matter jurisdiction of actions brought pursuant Title 42 U.S.C. Section 1983.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although state and federal courts have concurrent subject matter jurisdiction to hear actions arising from violations of federal civil rights laws, a municipality, as is the State and its agencies and subdivisions, is afforded immunity from such actions by the Eleventh Amendment in federal courts and Florida's common law sovereign immunity as applied in state court.

TOWN'S common law sovereign immunity affords it protection against "constitutional" claims as alleged in the Amended Complaint in the case at bar. Only if TOWN was performing as a "person" or, if TOWN had otherwise waived its common law sovereign immunity, could TOWN be held liable for violations of federal civil rights laws when suit is brought in state court.

ARGUMENT

I.

A MUNICIPALITY IS ENTITLED TO THE PROTECTIONS OF COMMON LAW SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY WHEN SUED IN A STATE COURT FOR FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS VIOLATIONS.

There are two general principles of law replied upon by the Fourth District Court of Appeals with which TOWN is in agreement, i.e., a state court has subject matter jurisdiction over federal civil rights actions brought in state courts, <u>Yellow Freight</u> <u>System, Inc. v. Donnelly</u>, **4** HW Fed **s252** (Case No.89-421, Opinion filed April 17, 1990), 493 U.S. —— (1990); and the State of Florida, its agencies and its subdivisions, are protected from liability for such a lawsuit by common law sovereign immunity when sued in its own state courts.

DOES A MUNICIPALITY HAVE COMMON LAW SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY?

Since the common law doctrine of sovereign immunity may only be waived by general law, as provided in §13, Article 10, Florida Constitution, <u>Cauley v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 403 So.2d 379 (Fla. 1981), the question posed by the opinion, <u>sub iudice</u> (App.1-3), and for which review is sought, is whether these same protections are afforded a municipality such as **TOWN**.

Simply, the answer is "Yes". In <u>Cauley</u>, 403 So.2d at 387, this Court set out the prior history and status of sovereign immunity as applied to Florida's municipalities and stated that

since the passage of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, all local governmental entities are to be treated equally and the past history of a separate doctrine of municipal common law immunity was no longer valid.

Thus, **TOWN** is afforded the same protections of common law sovereign immunity as is the State of Florida.

DOES COMMON LAW SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY ACT AS A DEFENSE TO VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS BROUGHT IN STATE COURTS?

In the underlying litigation in the case, <u>sub judice</u>, PAGE brought suit against TOWN for allegations that PAGE was fired from his job as a municipal employee because of a "Letter to the Editor" which was authored by PAGE and published in the Palm Beach <u>Post</u> (App.). The trial court determined, as a matter of law, that common sovereign immunity protected TOWN from any liability arising from the cause of action set forth in PAGE's Amended Complaint.

This Court has previously explained the application of common law sovereign immunity as applied to state court actions and the application of the Eleventh Amendment as applied to federal court actions. <u>Hill v. Department of Corrections, State of Florida</u>, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987). In <u>Hill</u>, 513 So.2d at 131, this Court, quoting <u>Ramah Navajo School Board v. Bureau of Revenue</u>, 104 N.M. 302, 720 P.2d 1243 (N.M.App.), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, <u>107</u> S.Ct. 423 (1986), held that:

... The Eleventh Amendment shields the operation of state governments from intrusions from the

federal judiciary while sovereign immunity state government affairs protects from interference by plaintiffs and state courts. [citation omitted] Therefore, when a Section 1983 suit is brought in federal court, the court analyzes whether the defendant is a "person" within the meaning of Section 1983 or, more meaningfully expressed, whether the Eleventh Amendment bars the suit from being brought against that defendant. Similarly, in Section 1983 actions brought in state courts, the court determines whether sovereign[ty] immunity bars the suit. [citation omitted]

The Second District Court of Appeal simplified the pronouncements of <u>Hill v. Department of Corrections</u>, in **its** recent opinion in <u>Howlett v. Rose</u>, **537** So.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989), and which opinion was relied upon by the trial court in its Order (App.). The Second District stated, **537** So.2d at **707**:

... The eleventh amendment protects state government from the federal judiciary. Under the eleventh amendment, when a section 1983 action is brought against a state in <u>federal court</u>, the question is whether the defendant qualifies as a "person" under the act or is more properly an Eleventh Amendment protected state agency. The determination of <u>that</u> question in <u>that</u> context is a question of federal law. <u>However</u>, when a section 1983 action is brought in <u>state</u> court, the sole question to be decided on the basis of <u>state</u> law is whether the state has waived its common law sovereign immunity.

Common law immunity and immunity derived from the Eleventh Amendment are two distinct concepts. Clearly, commonly law immunity is a valid defense to be relied upon by a municipality when sued in a state court for violations of federal civil rights laws.

WHEN CAN A MUNICIPALITY BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS LAWS BROUGHT AGAINST IT IN A STATE COURT?

The Fourth District Court of Appeals attempted in <u>City of</u> <u>Riviera Beach v. Langevin</u>, on rehearing, 522 So.2d at 866, to distinguished the circumstances when a local government is liable for damages claimed under a Section 1983 action brought in a state court, i.e. when a local government is a "person" within the meaning of Title 42 U.S.C Section 1983. In fact, <u>City of Riviera</u> <u>Beach v. Langevin</u> attempts to define the circumstances required to qualify a local municipality as a "person" within the meaning of Section 1983 to avoid the prohibitions of the sovereign immunity.

Even so, the Fourth District Court of Appeals totally ignored, in the case <u>sub judice</u>, the analysis made in <u>Riviera Beach</u>, and determined that TOWN'S reliance on <u>Hill v. Department of</u> <u>Corrections</u>, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, ____ U.S. 108 S.Ct. 1024, 98 L.Ed.2d 1024 (1988), and <u>Howlett V. Rose</u>, 537 So.2d 706 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1989) was misplaced because "[T]hose cases do not concern municipalities" (App.3).

The distinction of when a municipality was a "person" under Section 1983, was made clearer in <u>Little v. City of North Miami</u>, 807 F.2d 962 (11th Cir. 1986). In <u>Little</u> the court explained that Section 1983 created no substantive rights, but provided for a remedy if a party was deprived of his or hers constitutionally protected interests. In providing for this remedy, it was recognized that local governing bodies and local officials in their official capacities could be sued under Section 1983 when a party established that he or she suffered a constitutional deprivation as a result of either "a policy statement, ordinance, regulation,

or decision officially adopted and promulgated by that body's officers" or a "governmental 'custom' even though such a custom has not received formal approval through the body's official decision making **channels."** Monell v. Department of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658, 690, 91 \$.Ct, 2018, 2036 (1978).

The <u>Monell</u> court set certain guidelines which determine if the actions of a municipality come within the statutory term "person". 436 U.S. at 658. The Court delineated only two types of cases (1) when a party is injured due to the implementation of an official policy, or (2) when a party has been injured as a result of government "custom". Conversely, the Court stated that under no circumstances would a local government be held liable on a respondeat superior theory, i.e., a local government could not be sued under Section 1983 simply because an injury had been inflicted by its employee or agent. 436 U.S. at 691.

The Eleventh Circuit in Gilmere v. City of Atlanta, 737 F.2d 894 (11th Cir. 1984), has provided further clarification of the guidelines first enunciated in Monell. Gilmere arose out of an incident of alleged police brutality which Gilmere claimed was a result of established "custom" of the City of Atlanta. Gilmere charged that the city maintained the customs of encouraging excessive force in police-citizen encounters and improperly selecting training police officers. 737 F.2d at 902. The Gilmere court, in its discussion of the case, refined the concept of custom as applied to actions of local governments. The court stated that "city custom which may serve **as** the basis for liability may only

be created by city 'lawmakers or those whose edicts or acts may fairly be said to represent official policy." It was further noted that "[i]solated violations are not the persistent, often repeated, constant violations that constitute custom and policy." 737 F.2d 904.

Finally, and of equal importance, is the need to show that the official policy or custom of a local government comes from and is implemented by an individual who has the final authority or is the ultimate repository of municipal power. <u>Schneider v. City of</u> <u>Atlanta</u>, 628 F.2d 915 (5th Cir. 1980); accord, Williams v. City of <u>Valdosta</u>, 689 F.2d 964 (11th Cir. 1982); <u>Hearn v. City of</u> <u>Gainesville</u>, 688 F.2d 1328 (11th Cir. 1983).

The Fourth District Court of Appeals in the case at bar, failed to recognize that when a municipality is sued for violations of federal civil rights laws in a state court, it is entitled to rely upon its common law sovereign immunity, unless the immunity is waived, or, unless the municipality is sued as a "person" as defined by <u>Monell</u>, **436** U.S. **658**.

DOES SECTION 768.28, FLORIDA STATUTES ACT AS A WAIVER OF COMMON LAW SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY IN CIVIL RIGHTS LITIGATION?

Florida Statutes §768.28 is a clear and unequivocal waiver of sovereign immunity. This Court, however, has determined, in responding to a certified question from the Third District Court of Appeal, that Florida Statutes §768.28 does not act as a waiver of common law sovereign immunity when liability arises under 42 U.S.C. §1983. Hill v. Department of Corrections, State of Florida, 513 \$0.2d 129 (Fla. 1987).

THE LAW AS APPLIED TO THE CASE AT BAR.

PAGE complains that there was a policy and custom in TOWN which condoned harassment and intimidation when employees and citizens publicly opposed the views of VALENTINE (Chief of Police of TOWN and co-defendant in the trial court). Regardless of the "magic words" employed by PAGE in his Amended Complaint (App.5-12), there only exists one incident; to wit, PAGES's termination from his employment with the TOWN because of one publication. The amended complaint ignores the requirements that the TOWN can only be held accountable for federal civil rights violations if, in fact, it was sued as a "person" as defined by federal law. Under these instances, TOWN is not responsible for its employees under the doctrine of respondeat superior. . . as recognized by the Fourth District Court in the opinion on the rehearing in <u>Riviera</u> Beach, 522 So.2d at 866, but not followed in the case <u>sub judice</u>.

Since the Amended Complaint clearly indicates that TOWN has not been sued as a "person", TOWN has a right to rely upon its common law sovereign immunity and the trial court was correct in its granting TOWN'S Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant, TOWN OF LAKE **CLARKE SHORES**, for the reasons, argument and law cited herein, respectfully requests that this Court reverse the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeals and to direct said Court of Appeals to affirm the Judgment on the Pleadings entered by the trial court in favor of the Appellant, TOWN OF **LAKE CLARKE SHORES**.