0A 9-4.90

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TOWN OF LAKE CLARKE SHORES,

Petitioner,

vs .

: [:]

4.

ALAN PAGE,

Respondent.

CASE NO.: 75,375 DCA-4 NO.: 89-1338

UNL II DE DELENK, SIMME COLORT. by Chark C

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ALAN PAGE

JOSEPH A. VASSALLO, P.A. 3501 South Congress Avenue Lake Worth, Florida 33461 Telephone: (407) 964-9455 By: ISIDRO M. GARCIA, ESQUIRE Counsel for Respondent Florida Bar No.: 437883

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

, ·

Respondent substantially agrees with petitioner's statement of the case and facts, except where petitioner mischaracterizes the basis of the trial court's decision and the arguments advanced thereto by petitioner's trial counsel. In fact, at the hearing which resulted in judgment on the pleadings for petitioner, Mr. Kenneth Carman argued that dismissal was appropriate based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction; the trial court was so persuaded, and its order reflects that was the basis of its holding. Moreover, in reversing the order of the trial court, the Fourth District did not address the issue of common law immunity, simply because petitioner here never advanced that argument to the trial court and because the trial court decision was not based thereon. However, since the Fourth District's decision, the United States Supreme Court has ruled that there is no common law immunity for persons, including municipalities, who are sued pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983, whether the suit be brought in federal or in state court. Thus, even if petitioner had properly preserved the issue for appellate review, the issue has been decided squarely against it by the highest legal authority in the land.

iii

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal has been made moot by the recent decision of the United States Supreme Court in Howlett v. Rose, U.S. 4 FLW s 583 (June 15, 1990) which recognized that municipalities, and like entities, are subject to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 liability for constitutional violations, whether the action is pursued in federal or in state court, and, further, that the State of Florida may not immunize said liability. This important decision corrects the glaring error made by the Second District in Howlett, reported at 537 So.2d 706 (Fla 2nd DCA 1989), and also clarifies this Court's decision in Hill v. Department of Corrections, 513 So,2d 219 (Fla. 1987), from which Howlett was conceived. Despite the mootness, respondent suggests that a decision from this Court clarifying Hill and the limits of its immunity doctrine, repudiating the Second District's Howlett decision, and expressly adopting United States Supreme Court precedent on the issue, would be helpful to practitioners and to courts in our State.

ARGUMENT

The United States Supreme Court has recognized that municipalities, such as petitioner, are subject to suit for violations of constitutional rights pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 1983; such suits may properly seek monetary, declaratory, or injunctive relief. Monell v. Department of Social Services of the City of New York, 436 U.S. 658, 690 (1978). Further, when such actions are brought in state, rather than federal court, federal law pre-empts state created immunities. Felder v. Casev, _____U.S. ____, 108 S. Ct. 2302, 2309-10 (1988). While Felder is controlling, the Supreme Court recently laid to rest any doubt by expressly foreclosing the issue raised by petitioner here: "[t]o the extent that the Florida law of sovereign immunity reflects a substantive disagreement with the extent to which governmental entities should be held liable for their constitutional violations, that disagreement cannot override the dictates of federal law." Howlett v. Rose, U.S.____, 4 FLW S 583, 587 (June 15, 1990). Moreover, "[f]ederal law makes governmental defendants that are not arms of the State, such as municipalities, liable for their constitutional violations." Id. at S 587. Finally, states may <u>not</u> exempt persons subject to Section 1983 liability by conveying on them their own immunity since that would nullify federal law, and thereby violate the Supremacy Clause. Id. at S 589.

The trifecta of Monell, <u>Felder</u> and <u>Howlett</u> render petitioner's appeal without basis. Petitioner's reliance on the

Second District's decision in <u>Howlett</u>, at 537 So.2d 706, is, since the United States Supreme Court's repudiation of that case, ill-fated. Further, petitioner's reliance on this Court's decision in <u>Hill v. Department of Corrections</u>, 513 So.2d 129 (Fla. 1987), is, in light of the recent <u>Howlett</u> decision, misplaced. As Justice Stevens wrote for a unanimous Court:

> While the Florida Supreme Court's actual decision in <u>Hill</u> is consistent with the foregoing reasoning, the Court of Appeal's extension of <u>Hill</u> to persons subject by Section 1983 to liability is flatly inconsistent with that reasoning and the holdings in both <u>Martinez</u> and Fel<u>der</u>. Federal law makes governmental defendants that are not arms of the state, such as municipalities, liable for their constitutional violations [citations omitted]. 4 FLW Fed. at S 587

The Fourth District's decision in this case, reported at 552 So.2d 212 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), ably confirmed the principles of law expressed by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Monell</u>, <u>Felder</u> and most recently, in <u>Howlett</u>. Although the <u>Hill</u> holding of this Court was ultimately correct, the rationale was not precise, and it, as occurred with the Second District in <u>Howlett</u> and in the case here before the trial court, was employed in a manner that impermissibly discriminated against a federal cause of action. As the United States Supreme Court recognized in reversing the Second District decision in <u>Howlett</u> and limiting <u>Hill</u>:

The language and reasoning of the State Supreme Court, if not its precise holding, however, went further. That further step was completed by the District Court of Appeal in this case. As it construed the law, Florida has extended absolute immunity from suit not only to the State and its arms but also to municipalities, counties, and school districts who might otherwise be subject to suit under Section 1983 in federal That holding raises the court. concern that the state court may be evading federal law and discriminating against federal causes of action.

4 FLW Fed. S at 585

Although the issue of state court enforcement of federal law has gnawed at the belly of this nation's system of justice since at least the days following the Civil War, particularly in the South, <u>see senerally</u>: Foner, <u>Reconstruction: America's Unfinished</u> <u>Revolution</u> (New York, 1988), the issue has now been laid to rest by <u>Howlett</u>:

> Federal law is enforceable in state courts not because Congress has determined that federal courts would otherwise be burdened or that state courts might provide a more convenient forum -- although both might well be true - but because the Constitution and laws passed pursuant to it are as much laws in the States as laws passed by the state legislature. The Supremacy Clause makes those laws 'the supreme law of the land,' and charges state courts with a coordinate responsibility to enforce that law according to their regular modes of procedures.

> > Id. at S 585.

To the extent <u>Felder</u> had not already done so, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Howlett</u> disposed of petitioner's argument in its entirety. <u>Howlett</u> makes clear that municipalities, and any like local entity that is not an arm of the State, is subject to suit under **42** U.S.C. Section **1983** for constitutional violations; further, the suit can be brought in state court; finally, federal law pre-empts any immunity Florida would purport to confer on petitioner to void the federally created cause of action.

1. 4 08

Petitioner also attempts to argue that it is not a "person" as defined for purposes of 42 U.S.C. Section 1983. Petitioner advises this Court that the Fourth District "failed to recognize" that a municipality must be sued as a "person" to be sued under 42 U.S.C. Section 1983 ("Initial Brief" p. 10). Petitioner is apparently arguing that a municipality, such as it, is not a "person" as that term has come to be defined for Section 1983 The argument is fatuous. The United States Supreme actions. Court has consistently held that a municipality is a "person" for Section 1983 purposes. Monell, supra, 436 U.S. at 689-90; Will v. Michigan Department of State Police, U.S. ____, 109 S. Ct. at 2311. Moreover, petitioner has consistently admitted in each and every Answer it has filed before the trial court that it is a "municipality". Finally, since the United States Supreme Court has held that municipal corporations and similar governmental entities are "persons", a state court entertaining a

Section 1983 action must adhere to that interpretation. Howlett, supra, 4 FLW at S 587.

Petitioner's related argument that its liability under Section 1983 extends only to those acts that can be attributed to official policy, or actions that rise to the level of governmental "custom", it, at best, disingenuous. First, the trial court's ruling was not based on such an argument because such an argument was never raised and may not now be raised on appeal; secondly, although respondent has in earlier pleadings before the Fourth District attempted to educate counsel for petitioner on this issue, to no avail, it must again be repeated that the United States Supreme Court, in defining the contours of municipal liability in Section 1983 cases, has held that policy custom can arise from a single act which causes the or constitutional deprivation. Pembaur v. Citv of Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469, 480-81 (1986).

In this case, respondent has alleged, and if given the opportunity, will prove at trial, that petitioner's former chief of police, on the urging of the Town manager, fired respondent for respondent's exercise of his rights of free speech. Said former chief, along with the current chief of police, subsequently conspired, in retaliation for further free speech activities of respondent, to have respondent arrested on a fabricated allegation of impersonating a police officer, a charge ultimately dismissed by the Palm Beach County State Attorney's

office for lack of evidence. Those facts, if proven at trial, are more than sufficient to establish municipal liability under the guidelines of <u>Pembaur</u>, which petitioner's counsel unscrupously has failed to discuss in her Initial Brief, although previously alerted to the holding of said case.

The Initial Brief of Amici City of Belle Glade and City of Delray Beach relies entirely on the Second District's unfortunate misconception of the law in <u>Howlett</u>, <u>supra</u>. Now that the United States Supreme Court has corrected the error, no further response to Amicis' argument is needed or warranted.

The Initial Brief of Amicus City of Lake Worth, although convoluted in its reasoning and unclear in its writing, appears to contend that Florida courts lack subject matter jurisdiction of Section 1983 actions and that the Federal Constitution does not require Florida courts to assume jurisdiction over Section 1983 actions. (Initial Brief, p.5),. Both arguments were ably disposed of long ago by United States Supreme Court precedent.

First, state courts may entertain Section 1983 actions. Maine v. Thiboutot, 448 U.S. 1, 3 n.1 (1980); <u>Martinez v.</u> California, 444 U.S. 277, 283 n.7 (1980). In fact, state courts may, and do, pursuant to the doctrine of concurrent jurisdiction, entertain <u>any</u> federal cause of action, as long as Congress has not explicitly or implicitly made federal court jurisdiction exclusive. Gulf Offshore Co. v. Mobil Oil Corp., 453 U.S. 473 (1978). Nothing in the language of Section 1983 suggests that Congress has made federal court jurisdiction exclusive; moreover,

implied exclusivity results only when there is an "unmistakable implication from legislative history, or by a clear imcompatability between state-court jurisdiction and federal interests" [citations omitted]. Id. at 478. Nothing in the legislature history of Section 1983 supports implied exclusivity. Nor is there any incongruity in the state court enforcement of federal constitutional rights: for example, state criminal courts regularly enforce many provisions in the federal Bill of Rights. Our own state constitution opens our courts to every person, for redress of <u>any</u> injury, not only those injuries recognized as actionable by state law. Art. I, Section 21, Florida Constitution.

. .

As to the second point raised by Amicus City of Lake Worth, which is nothing more than the old "state's rights" argument given a legal dressing, the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution and Justice Stevens' "three corollaries" in Howlett, <u>supra</u>, refutes it as a sham. First, a state court may not deny a federal right, when the parties and controversy are properly before it, in the absence of a valid excuse; second, "an excuse that is inconsistent with or violates federal law is not a valid excuse: the Supremacy Clause forbids state courts to dissociate themselves from federal law because of disagreement with its content or a refusal to recognize the superior authority of its source"; and, thirdly, when a state court refuses jurisdiction because of a neutral state rule regarding the administration of justice, the state court needn't necessarily

assume jurisdiction over the action. Howlett, <u>supra</u>, 4 FLW at S 585-86. Analyzing these three factors with respect to a Section 1983 claim brought in a Florida state court against a local school board, a unanimous Court held: 1." . . . the Florida court's refusal to entertain one discrete category of [Section] 1983 claims, when the court entertains similar state law actions against state defendants, violates the Supremacy Clause," <u>Id.</u> at S 587; 2. no valid excuse for failing to entertain the Section 1983 action was presented, <u>Id</u>. at S 588; and, 3. the state policy at issue there, permitting claims based on state law and construed to prohibit claims based on federal law, "flatly violates the Supremacy Clause." <u>Id</u>. at S 588. In short, Florida courts may not entertain actions similar to Section 1983 claims, and then refuse to entertain Section 1983 actions, because such an arbitrary jurisdictional bar violates the Supremacy Clause.

CONCLUSION

The cases of <u>Monell</u>, <u>Felder</u> and <u>Howlett</u> from the United States Supreme Court expressly and conclusively repudiate petitioner's main argument on appeal. It is now clear beyond the shadow of any plausible argument that: 1. Florida State courts <u>must</u> entertain Section 1983 actions, and, 2. municipalities, and other local political entities, may not claim common law and/or sovereign immunity when attempting to evade liability for constitutional deprivations, because federal law pre-empts any immunity the state may purport to confer. Prior decisions of the

United States Supreme Court also dispose of petitioner's related argument that a municipality is not a "person" for Section 1983 purposes.

Because the law on petitioner's issue has now been made explicitly clear, this Court should affirm the decision of the Fourth District. In addition, respondent respectfully suggests that because the decision for this Court is now so clear, that the Court consider dispensing with oral argument. While petitioner's time and costs for a trip to Tallahassee are furnished by insurance coverage, it would cause respondent great financial hardship to bear the expense of a trip to Tallahassee for his counsel. If the issue raised by petitioner had not been explicitly decided by the United States Supreme Court in favor of respondent, oral argument would, in all likelihood, assist the Court. However, in light of the <u>Howlett</u> decision, oral argument would only serve to amplify the obvious, and the cost would outweigh the benefit.